

September 2024

# Travel Demand Modeling and the Assessment of Environmental Impacts

A Literature Review

Keuntae Kim, University of California, Davis Daniel Byrd, University of California, Davis Susan Handy, University of California, Davis

> **ITS** UCDAVIS Institute of Transportation Studies

### **TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE**

| 1. Report No.<br>NCST-UCD-RR-24-23  | <b>2. Government Accession No.</b><br>N/A  | <b>3. Recipient's Cat</b> a<br>N/A   | alog No.   |
|---|--|--|--|
| <ul> <li>4. Title and Subtitle<br/>Travel Demand Modeling and the Assessment of Environmental Impacts: A<br/>Literature Review</li> <li>7. Author(s)<br/>Keuntae Kim, Ph.D., https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5877-1348<br/>Daniel Byrd, M.S.<br/>Susan Handy, Ph.D., https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4141-1290</li> </ul>   |  | <b>5. Report Date</b><br>September 2024  |  |
|   |  | <b>6. Performing Organization Code</b><br>N/A  |  |
|   |  | 8. Performing Organization Report No.<br>UCD-ITS-RR-24-80  |  |
| <b>9. Performing Organization Name and Address</b><br>University of California, Davis<br>Institute of Transportation Studies<br>1605 Tilia Street, Suite 100<br>Davis, CA 95616   |  | <b>10. Work Unit No.</b><br>N/A  |  |
|   |  | <b>11. Contract or Grant No.</b><br>Caltrans 65A1035<br>USDOT Grant 69A3552344814  |  |
| <ul> <li>12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address</li> <li>U.S. Department of Transportation</li> <li>Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology</li> <li>1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE, Washington, DC 20590</li> <li>California Department of Transportation</li> <li>Division of Research, Innovation and System Information, MS-83</li> <li>1727 30th Street, Sacramento, CA 95816</li> </ul> |  | <b>13. Type of Report and Period Covered</b><br>Report (June 2023 – September 2024)  |  |
|   |  | 14. Sponsoring Agency Code<br>USDOT OST-R  |  |
| <b>15. Supplementary Notes</b><br>DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.7922/G2GX48XM</u><br>This contract was funded by State Plann   |  |  |  |
| <b>16. Abstract</b><br>The purpose of this literature review is to<br>models (TDMs) to provide accurate fored<br>different outcome measures of interest.<br>miles of travel (VMT) and greenhouse gas<br>Relevant studies for this review were fou<br>Documentation (TRID) database and Goo<br>of limitations of the models, validity test   | casts for different types of transportatio<br>The role of TDMs in assessing the implic<br>s (GHG) emissions is of particular intere<br>nd using a variety of search terms in the<br>ogle Scholar. The report reviewed the av | n plans and projects w<br>cations of highway exp<br>est given the current reg<br>Transport Research Ir<br>vailable studies with re | ith respect to<br>ansions for vehicle<br>gulatory context.<br>nternational |
| <b>17. Key Words</b><br>Travel demand forecasting, travel demand models, induced travel   |  | <b>18. Distribution Statement</b><br>No restrictions.  |  |
| <b>19. Security Classif. (of this report)</b><br>Unclassified   | <b>20. Security Classif. (of this page)</b><br>Unclassified  | <b>21. No. of Pages</b> 27   | <b>22. Price</b><br>N/A  |
| Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)  | 1  | Reproduction of comp   | leted page authorized  |



# ABOUT THE NATIONAL CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORTATION

The National Center for Sustainable Transportation is a consortium of leading universities committed to advancing an environmentally sustainable transportation system through cutting-edge research, direct policy engagement, and education of our future leaders. Consortium members include: the University of California, Davis; California State University, Long Beach; Georgia Institute of Technology; Texas Southern University; the University of California, Riverside; the University of Southern California; and the University of Vermont. More information can be found at: <u>ncst.ucdavis.edu</u>.

### Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. The report is funded, partially or entirely, by a grant from the U.S. Department of Transportation's University Transportation Centers Program and, partially or entirely, by a grant from the State of California assume no liability for the contents or use thereof. Nor does the content necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the U.S. Government or the State of California. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation. This report does not constitute an endorsement by the California Department of Transportation of any product described herein.

The U.S. Department of Transportation and the State of California require that all University Transportation Center reports be published publicly. To fulfill this requirement, the National Center for Sustainable Transportation publishes reports on the University of California open access publication repository, eScholarship. The authors may copyright any books, publications, or other copyrightable materials developed in the course of, or under, or as a result of the funding grant; however, the U.S. Department of Transportation reserves a royalty-free, nonexclusive and irrevocable license to reproduce, publish, or otherwise use and to authorize others to use the work for government purposes.

### Acknowledgments

This study was funded, partially or entirely, by a grant from the National Center for Sustainable Transportation (NCST), supported by the U.S. Department of Transportation (USDOT) and the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) through the University Transportation Centers program. The authors would like to thank the NCST, the USDOT, and Caltrans for their support of university-based research in transportation, and especially for the funding provided in support of this project.



# Travel Demand Modeling and the Assessment of Environmental Impacts: A Literature Review

A National Center for Sustainable Transportation Report

Keuntae Kim, Institute of Transportation Studies, University of California, Davis Daniel Byrd, Institute of Transportation Studies, University of California, Davis Susan Handy, Institute of Transportation Studies, University of California, Davis

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

| Introduction                        |   |
|-------------------------------------|---|
| Methodology                         | 3 |
| Travel Demand Models                | 4 |
| Limitations of Travel Demand Models | 7 |
| Sources of Uncertainty              | 7 |
| Simplifications                     | 8 |
| Other Considerations                | 9 |
| Validity and Sensitivity Testing1   | 1 |
| Forecasting VMT1                    | 3 |
| Conclusion 1                        | 5 |
| Bibliography1                       | 6 |

# INTRODUCTION

Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) and other agencies rely on travel demand models (TDMs) to forecast the outcomes that will result from changes in the transportation system. The outcomes of proposed projects, such as highway expansions, must be evaluated in the environmental review process under the National Environmental Protection Act (NEPA) and, in California, the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). Under federal policy, the outcomes of long-range transportation plans required of Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) as well as state Department of Transportation (DOTs) must also be evaluated. These analyses historically focused on level of service, a measure of congestion on a roadway, but agencies are increasingly concerned with other important outcomes. In California, under Senate Bill 375 (Steinberg, Chapter 728, Statutes of 2008) and Senate Bill 743 (Steinberg, Chapter 386, Statutes of 2013), agencies must analyze the impacts of plans and projects on vehicle miles traveled (VMT) and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Other outcomes of interest in California and elsewhere include safety, noise, and health and the equity implications of all these outcomes. Forecasts of these outcomes are essential inputs to planning and project selection processes to ensure that benefits outweigh environmental and societal costs.

The TDMs used today by state DOTs and MPOs to forecast the outcomes of plans and projects are an improvement over the first TDMs developed in the 1950s and 1960s, but they are not perfectly suited to their mission. One issue is that they are not capable of analyzing certain kinds of projects, for example, bicycle and pedestrian facilities, and they do not provide forecasts of many of the outcomes of interest to agencies, safety most notably. In other words, TDMs provide only a portion of the information agencies need. Another issue is the potential inaccuracy of the forecasts, whether attributable to inherent biases stemming from the construction and calibration of the model or to the influence of staff decisions about input data and parameter values. A growing body of evidence suggests that TDMs produce inaccurate forecasts. For example, a study by Volker et al. (2020) shows that TDMs typically underestimate the increase in vehicle miles of travel induced by increases in highway capacity, often quite substantially (Volker et al., 2020). Other studies have identified structural shortcomings in TDMs, with important and problematic implications (Marshall, 2018).

The purpose of this literature review is to assess what is currently known about the ability of TDMs to provide accurate forecasts for different types of plans and projects with respect to different outcome measures of interest. The role of TDMs in assessing the implications of highway expansions for VMT and GHG emissions is of particular interest given the current regulatory context (Deakin et al., 2020; Volker et al., 2020). The methodology used



to identify relevant papers is first described, followed by important background on TDMs in use today. Subsequent sections review limitations of the models, explain validity testing and sensitivity testing, and discuss the specific topic of VMT forecasting.

# METHODOLOGY

Relevant studies for this review were found using the Transport Research International Documentation (TRID) database and Google Scholar. The search terms, "travel demand model (or modeling)," "travel forecasting," and "regional transportation planning" were used as fixed key search terms. Terms such as "induced travel (or induced travel effect)," "vehicle miles traveled (or VMT)," "air quality," "emissions," "land use," "transportation policy (or policymaking)," "transit," and "public transportation" were combined with the fixed key search terms to specify the policies of interest to transportation agencies. The research team focused on peer-review journal articles but several items from "gray literature"—such as technical guidelines by Caltrans, professional reports (e.g., NCHRP or TCRP reports from the TRID database), book chapters, conference papers, and webpages—were also identified as relevant to the review of empirical research on the question of the ability of TDMs to forecast induced travel. Various combinations of these search terms led to the identification of 86 relevant items—68 peer-reviewed journal articles and 18 items from the gray literature—after removing redundant items and screening each item for relevance.

The relevant items were reviewed with respect to the following questions:

- What are the roles of TDMs in transportation planning and environmental review processes?
- What characteristics of TDMs limit their usefulness in these processes?
- What are current practices with respect to validity testing and sensitivity testing of the forecasts that TDMs produce?
- How are TDMs being used to assess the impact of highway capacity on VMT?

# **TRAVEL DEMAND MODELS**

Travel demand models (TDMs) are calibrated using data about current travel patterns and are used to forecast future travel patterns (Miller, 2020). They can be used to create and compare different transportation policy scenarios by adjusting model inputs as well as model parameters (Franklin et al., 2002; Malayath & Verma, 2013). These models generate forecasts of travel demand choices and transportation system performance (Davidson et al., 2007). Such forecasts are indispensable for policymakers in evaluating proposed road network improvements and other targeted infrastructure investments (Michael, 2016; Transportation Research Board, 2007). They are an important tool for assessing the degree to which such investments will help an agency achieve its goals, including congestion reduction and air quality improvements (Handy, 2008).

The original TDMs were developed for the purpose of determining the need for additional highway capacity given expected population and economic growth, with the goal of maintaining acceptable levels of congestion. This remains a primary purpose for today's models, though they are also used for broader array of purposes (Handy, 2008). Regardless of the type of model (as described below), key inputs to the model include representations of the future transportation network and future land use patterns. Traditionally, future land use patterns were taken as a given, and the model was used to forecast congestion levels for two scenarios: the "no-build" scenario, with no improvements to the current transportation network, and the "build" scenario, reflecting improvements to the network. When used in the long-range planning process, the model is used to forecast the performance of the proposed future network. When used in the environmental review process, it is used to forecast the impacts of specific projects. The model outputs include vehicle counts on individual road segments as well as estimated speeds, which together can be used to estimate not just congestion levels but also emissions of various air pollutants as required by federal and state policy. Models are now being used in California and some other states to estimate GHG emissions under different scenarios as well as increases in VMT stemming from increases in highway capacity.

Many of the TDMs in use today are largely similar to those first used in the 1960s. These four-step travel demand models consist of submodels for trip generation, trip distribution, mode split, and route assignment (Ferdous et al., 2012; McNally, 2007). Although these models have become more sophisticated over time, their basic structure and inherent assumptions remain the same. The primary inputs to the model are land use data in the form of population and employment data for each "traffic analysis zone" and the roadway network (excluding local streets) represented as links (with characteristics such as capacity and speed limits) and nodes. Some models also incorporate a transit network depicting rail and bus routes with schedules and fares. Trip generation models estimate "trip ends" – the number of trips originating in or ending in each zone by trip purpose. Trip distribution models link the trip ends to estimate the flows of trips between zones based on travel times between zones. Mode split (or more sophisticated "mode choice") models



estimate the split of those trip flows across modes. Finally, the route assignment model assigns trips to the network based on estimated travel times to determine the number of vehicle trips on each roadway segment. Over the decades, mode split and route assignment models have advanced to a greater degree than trip generation and trip distribution models. Another notable innovation is the move to tour-based models, which account for the fact that individual trips are often linked together in "tours," for example, when an individual stops at a coffee shop on the way to work and at a grocery store or the gym on the way home (Hasnine & Nurul Habib, 2021).

Activity-based models discard the zone-based approach and instead simulate the behavior of individual households and their individual members at a fine level of spatial detail. They explicitly model travel demand as deriving from an individuals' involvement in different activities. They start by predicting which activities are conducted when, where, for how long, and with whom, and then predict the travel choices that individuals will make to complete the predicted activities. Activity-based models include an explicit representation of the timing and sequencing of travel, using tours and trips as fundamental units of travel demand, and incorporating interrelationships among many long-term and short-term dimensions of travel (Castiglione et al., 2014; Vovsha & Bradley, 2006). They enable the incorporation of psychological as well as socio-demographic factors as predictors of travel choices (Shiftan & Ben-Akiva, 2011). Activity-based models enable agencies to evaluate the effect of alternative policies on individuals' travel behavior at a high level of temporal and spatial resolution and select the best policy alternative considering a potential wide range of performance indicators (Givoni et al., 2016a; Shiftan & Ben-Akiva, 2011; Vovsha & Bradley, 2006; Malayath & Verma, 2013).

Activity-based models and some four-step models employ discrete choice models to predict the probability that an individual makes a given choice from a set of available choices. These models assume that this probability depends on the ratio of the utility of the given choice relative to the sum of the utility across all available choices. Because these models take a logit form, the sum of the utilities across all choices is referred to as the "logsum." For mode choice models, the utility of choosing a particular mode is assumed to depend on travel times (in-vehicle and out-of-vehicle), monetary costs, and other factors such as land use characteristics or the number of transfers for transit trips. Income and/or auto ownership are sometimes incorporated into the model.

Other variations of TDMs have been developed, sometimes for specific purposes, but are not widely used in transportation planning practice. Moekel et al. (2020) propose a hybrid model that overcomes some of the limitations of four-step models but is easier to implement than activity-based models. A systematic literature review by Alipour and Dia (2023) provides insights into the recent development of land use, transport, and energyenvironment (LUTEI) modeling frameworks focusing on policy integration by forecasting changes in travel behavioral patterns toward ride-hailing services, walking, biking, and shared mobility services to achieve goals of more sustainable transportation modes (Alipour & Dia, 2023). Another study by Croce et al. (2019) suggests a framework for



"transport system models" that integrates transport supply and transport demand models with the optimization of the operation of electric vehicles for a better sustainable transportation decision-making process (Croce et al., 2019).

# LIMITATIONS OF TRAVEL DEMAND MODELS

Although TDMs play an important role in transportation planning and environmental review processes, notable limitations moderate their effectiveness as decision support tools. Forecasting is an inherently uncertain exercise, and the longer the time period of the forecast, the more uncertain it is. Although TDMs are frequently used for long-term forecasts (i.e. more than 20 years into the future), short-term forecasts come with less uncertainty (Karner, 2022).

### **Sources of Uncertainty**

Once source of uncertainty is the nature of current travel behavior. TDMs have traditionally been calibrated based on data collected through travel diary surveys with supplemental data from other sources. Travel diary surveys collect data from a sample of individuals and households about each of the trips they make on the day of the survey, including the origin, destination, mode, and timing of the trip. Modelers apply statistical methods to these data to estimate the equations that make up the model, meaning that the model is only as good as the data on which it is based. Especially in recent years, serious questions have been raised about the quality of data collected through travel diaries. Concerns include biases in the sample of households participating in the survey as well the possibility that survey participants misreport their travel or even omit trips altogether. Outdated, insufficient, or aggregated data on travel patterns, population demographics, and infrastructure conditions can undermine the precision of travel demand models (Pulugurtha et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2012).

A second source of uncertainty in the use of TDMs for forecasting is that agencies must also forecast the inputs to the model with some level of uncertainty. This is not so much an issue for the transportation network, as the network is with the control of the MPO and state DOT: the agency assumes or proposes rather than forecasts the network in most situations. Future land use patterns, on the other hand, must be forecast. These forecasts include not only total population and employment in the region over time but also its spatial distribution across the region. Land development is notoriously difficult to forecast, however, and depends to some extent on changes in the transportation network (Handy, 2005). Most models do not directly account for the reciprocal relationship between land development and transportation investments, a failure that limits their ability to accurately forecast future travel patterns (Acheampong & Silva, 2015; Waddell, 2014; Waldeck et al., 2020). The inherent uncertainty associated with predicting future conditions poses a substantial challenge to long-term travel demand forecasting.

A third question is whether current behavior is a good predictor of future behavior. In the future, people may not respond to transportation options in the same way that they do today. Travel time might become more or less important, for example, or demand for certain activities might wane. But the static equations at the heart of the model assume



that the calculus of individual travel choices remains the same, even as the inputs to the model change. Not only are factors such as technological innovations or shifts in travel preferences difficult to anticipate accurately (El Zarwi et al., 2017; Shaheen & Cohen, 2020), such changes are not easily incorporated into TDMs short of a wholesale recalibration of the model. The models are not built to adapt to fundamental economic and societal changes.

### Simplifications

In addition to these substantial uncertainties, TDMs have inherent limitations owing to their simplified representation of travel behavior and the transportation system. Four-step models are more simplified and thus have more limitations than activity-based models, though the limitations of the latter are also notable.

### Four-Step Models

Traditional four-step TDMs are characterized by their aggregated representation of travel behavior, based on traffic analysis zones rather than households or individuals. This approach oversimplifies heterogeneity within zones, instead relying on average characteristics within the zone, and tends to create aggregation biases that could affect analyses of proposed projects (Miller, 2020; Davidson et al., 2007). This problem is especially acute for zones with diverse land uses and population characteristics. In addition, these models do not provide spatial detail on travel flows within zones, a significant limitation for the analysis of public transit and non-motorized trips (Davidson et al., 2007). Temporal detail is also limited, in that the models tend to aggregate trips to peak periods rather than predicting the specific time at which trips are made. Simplified behavioral assumptions embedded within these models introduce another limitation (Ben-Akiva et al., 1998; Vovsha & Bradley, 2006).

Although four-step models continue to be widely used in practice, especially in smaller regions with limited resources, the field has increasingly recognized that these models are limited in their ability to account for the dynamic interplay between travel behavior and network conditions. This limits their ability to reasonably represent the effects of transportation policies such as variable road pricing and travel demand management strategies (Rasouli & Timmermans, 2012; Shiftan & Ben-Akiva, 2011). This recognition has led to interest in developing integrated dynamic models that link advanced activity-based demand model components with dynamic network traffic assignment model components (Castiglione et al., 2014).

### **Activity-Based Models**

Activity-based models offer a more complete representation of the complexity of travel behavior by focusing on individual households and the individuals within those households. In doing so they account for heterogeneity within the population with respect to travel needs and preferences, thereby enhancing the fidelity of predictions in



demographically varied regions (Davidson et al., 2007). The models account for interactions among household members in the scheduling of activities and their attendant travel choices, including decisions about shared vehicles (Gliebe & Koppelman, 2005; Hu et al., 2023; Vovsha et al., 2003; J. Zhang et al., 2009; Davidson et al., 2007; Vovsha et al., 2011)). They also operate at a finer temporal resolution and thus provide a more accurate representation of dynamics of travel behavior. Their finer spatial resolution enables the analysis of short distance trips, particularly those by public transit and active modes. In these ways, they offer the potential for more accurate forecasts, though they too face issues around uncertainty as discussed above.

In sum, these models not only do a better job of representing real-world travel behaviors than four-step models but also simulate travel demand outcomes at the micro level with respect to spatiotemporal changes in land use, demographic characteristics, employment, income, and diverse transportation modes (Arentze & Timmermans, 2012; Davidson et a. 2007; Ferdous et al., 2012; Walker et al., 2019). They allow for a more detailed and dynamic representation of travel behavior, which, as many argue, make them more suitable for analyzing the effects of various transportation policies (Davidson et al., 2007; Malayath & Verma, 2013; Griesenbeck & Garry, 2007; Shan et al., 2013). Studies demonstrating the higher accuracy of activity-based models compared to four-step models underscores the potential usefulness in policymaking (Padhye et al., 2020; Tajaddini et al., 2020).

### **Other Considerations**

Travel demand models were initially developed to forecast traffic counts and congestion levels, and they continue to support this objective. However, today's MPOs and state DOTs have adopted a broader array of goals, including environmental justice and mobility equity. TDMs are not necessarily well suited to providing information useful to assessing the implications of policies for these goals (Bills, 2024; Bills et al., 2012; Miller, 2020). Regarding equity, certain demographic groups or geographic areas often experience disproportionate negative effects from transportation investments, and these impacts may not be adequately reflected in modeling outputs (Ramadan et al., 2019).

Resource constraints in terms of available funding and human capital pose practical challenges to developing and maintaining sophisticated travel demand models. Regions or agencies lacking the necessary resources may struggle with regular model updates or improvements (D'Cruz et al., 2020; Kisgyörgy & Vasvári, 2017; Y. Zhang & Zhang, 2019). Activity-based models especially demand detailed data and computational resources, potentially limiting their applicability in situations where such resources are scarce (Moekel et al., 2020).

Agencies must also consider community engagement. If the public lacks trust or understanding of the modeling process, it can lead to resistance and hinder the successful implementation of transportation policies (Givoni et al., 2016b; Marsden et al., 2009;



Volker et al., 2020). Effective communication and collaboration among stakeholders is paramount to building trust in modeling results so that they are actually used to inform transportation policies (Angelelli et al., 2022; Ben-Akivai et al., 1996). The two types of models present different challenges on this front. On one hand, the complexity of activity-based models may be off-putting to stakeholders (Givoni et al., 2016), on the other, their behavioral realism may be easier for stakeholders to grasp.

These challenges underscore the ongoing need for research and innovation in the field to advance the capabilities of travel demand modeling and its application in shaping sustainable and equitable transportation systems. Addressing these constraints necessitates a concerted effort to enhance data collection, refine modeling techniques, and bolster the integration of travel demand modeling with other planning processes.

# **VALIDITY AND SENSITIVITY TESTING**

The validity – or accuracy – of the forecasts generated by TDMs cannot be directly assessed at the time of the forecasts. Instead, TDMs are generally validated based on their ability to replicate current patterns of travel, though sometimes they are validated using a "back-casting" approach in which the accuracy of forecasts for earlier years are compared to actual traffic counts for those years. It is generally accepted that forecasts have a high degree of uncertainty, particularly on specific segments of the network, though this uncertainty is not always highlighted or acknowledged.

Several studies have explored the accuracy of different components of models or different types of models, as in the following examples:

Gibb (2023) analyzed a more modern trip distribution model, developed for the Sacramento Council of Governments' SACSIM activity-based model. SACSIM uses a multinomial logit (MNL) model rather than the traditional gravity model. The author tested this model both with and without attraction constraints, which have historically been employed to simulate the real-world constraints that people experience in their daily travels (Gibb, 2023).

Pulugurtha et al. (2019) evaluated the accuracy of the Charlotte regional TDM's travel time estimations by comparing them to real-world data. The model in question was a traditional four-step model. The study found that correlations between forecasted and actual travel times was strongest in suburban and rural areas, and weakest in urban and inner-ring neighborhoods (Pulugurtha et al., 2019). These results suggest that travel demand forecasts are most accurate when vehicular congestion is minimal and route choice is more constrained.

Shan et al. (2013) and Zhong et al. (2015) conducted a comparative analysis of the Tampa Bay Regional Planning Model (TBRPM), an existing traditional four-step model for the same area, and an activity-based model developed using travel diary data from the Tampa Bay Region in Florida. The analysis showed that the activity-based model provided a more accurate representation of travel behavior, though the four-step model out-performed the activity-based model in some respects (Shan et al., 2013; Zhong et al., 2015).

Sensitivity analysis, in contrast, involves the systematic variation of input parameters, including variables such as travel costs, time considerations, socioeconomic factors, and infrastructure attributes, to test their impact (Al-Salih & Esztergár-Kiss, 2022b; Xu et al., 2023). The TDM is run for distinct sets of parameter values to determine resultant changes in model outputs, including mode choice, trip distribution, and overall travel demand patterns (Castiglione et al., 2014; Du & Chen, 2022)). Identifying the parameters having the greatest influence on outputs can provide direction for efforts to improve data accuracy, refine assumptions, and bolster the reliability of the model (Al-Salih & Esztergár-Kiss, 2022a; Gu et al., 2022).



The literature underscores the pivotal role of sensitivity analysis in assessing the responsiveness of TDMs to transportation policy questions. These analyses provide decision-makers with a systematic methodology for understanding the complex interplay of input parameters. They can be used to produce a ranking of parameters based on the sensitivity of the TDM to each parameter, providing decision-makers with a clear hierarchy of influential factors shaping travel demand model results (Al-Salih & Esztergár-Kiss, 2022b; Yang et al., 2013). These insights can provide the basis for the development of policy scenarios. However, hyper-sensitivity of the models to policy inputs, when small alterations in policy assumptions lead to consequential variations in model outputs, complicate the use of TDMs for policy evaluation (Shiftan & Ben-Akiva, 2011; Yang et al., 2013).

# **FORECASTING VMT**

Much of the recent literature on the regulatory capabilities of TDMs has been centered on their potential role in accurately forecasting reductions in vehicle miles traveled (VMT), and in turn, greenhouse gas emissions, stemming from various policies. VMT reduction policies may involve some combination of transit improvements, land use changes, and/or auto pricing intended to decrease the attractiveness of driving relative to less impactful alternatives.

TDMs are not always well suited, however, to assessing the effects of such strategies. Rodier (2009) reviewed literature analyzing the capabilities of various regional travel demand models in forecasting changes in VMT and GHG emissions over various time horizons and in response to various policy scenarios. The regions highlighted in the review varied both in population and the level of transit service provided, allowing for the marginal impact of transportation policies to be measured across various scales. Regional agencies simulated policy scenarios in isolation as well as in pairs and triplets, such as a pairing of transit expansion with congestion pricing as in a study for the San Francisco Bay Area. However, the review found that the regional models were limited in their ability to predict the effects of land use change and transit expansion at a granular level. The reliance of measures of the quantity rather than quality of transit service was another notable limitation. At of the time of this review, the ability of TDMs to combine these metrics and evaluate the overall quality of transit service in a region was still limited (Rodier, 2009). Many agencies forecast active travel "off model" since these modes are not directly represented in the models (Handy, 2008).

The accuracy of the VMT estimates is another important question. Metz (2021), for example, analyzed the accuracy of a travel demand model in predicting travel time savings from widening a 16-mile section of London's M25 motorway from three lanes to four lanes per direction. The SATURN software model had projected an increase in both traffic volumes and average speeds from the road widening. These projections contributed to favorable economic cost-benefit projections during the planning of the project. According to the analysis, the project did reduce travel times immediately following its 2014 opening, but much of the time savings disappeared in subsequent years. Over time, as traffic volumes increased, average roadway speeds returned to the status quo before expansion, thereby wiping out the benefits on which the project was justified. On both local and national scales, the study found that improvements to roadway infrastructure did not lead to reductions in travel time but rather to increases in road travel. This finding points to a notable disconnect between the economic forecasts presented to the public and the actual economic impacts post-completion (Metz, 2021).

Critical to the accurate forecasting of VMT is the accurate forecasting of induced VMT, that is, the increase in VMT that can be attributed to highway capacity expansion itself. Caltrans requires the estimation and mitigation of induced VMT as a part of the environmental



review process under the California Environmental Quality Act, a requirement implemented in response to SB 743 (Caltrans, 2020). Capacity expansion reduces the cost of travel, leading to short-term changes in behavior, including longer trips, shifts in travel mode, route changes, and entirely new trips. Longer-term changes in residential and commercial locations as well as changes in land development patterns can also occur (Downs, 1962; Caltrans, 2020; Handy, 2005).

TDMs typically do not capture all of these possible changes because they do not reflect all of the ways that changes in travel speeds can reshape travel behavior (Naess et al., 2012; Milam et al., 2017; Deakin et al., 2020). In four-step models, the issue is whether the model includes feeds the forecast of congested travel times that the model produces as an output back into earlier components of the model. Although the forecasted times are usually fed back into the route assignment and mode choice submodels, they are less often fed back into the trip distribution submodel and rarely into the trip generation submodel. Also rare are feedback loops between the forecast of travel times and the land use scenario that is input into the model. This means that while models generally capture induced VMT associated with changes in route and mode choice, they generally do not capture induced travel associated with changes in trip destinations, trip generation, residential and commercial location, and land development patterns. As a result, they tend to underestimate VMT induced by the expansion and thus total VMT following the expansion. The result is overly optimistic forecasts of benefits in terms of increased travel speeds and reduced congestion but also overly optimistic forecasts of costs in terms of GHG emissions and other impacts (Naess et al, 2012; Volker et al., 2020).

Activity-based models offer the potential to both represent policies other than highway capacity expansion (e.g. transit improvements, investments in active modes, pricing strategies) and to capture more of the connections between decisions that result in induced VMT. The higher temporal detail in activity-based models is also helpful in accurately capturing induced VMT by accounting for shifts in trip departure times in response to changing levels of congestion. But even these models often lack feedbacks to trip generation and to land development patterns (Milam et al., 2017).

# CONCLUSION

Travel demand forecasting models are essential to the transportation planning process and to the assessment of the environmental impacts of proposed projects. Although activity-based models represent an improvement over traditional four-step travel demand models in terms of their more realistic representation of travel behavior and their greater level of spatial and temporal detail, both types of models necessarily offer simplified representations of the actual transportation system and produce forecasts with a high level of uncertainty. Validity and sensitivity testing help analysts understand uncertainties and inaccuracies in the model forecasts. Of particular concern from a policy standpoint is the ability of these models to accurately account for the induced VMT effect of highway capacity expansions.

### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Acheampong, R. A., & Silva, E. A. (2015). Land use–transport interaction modeling: A review of the literature and future research directions. *Journal of Transport and Land Use*, 8(3), 11–38.
- Alipour, D., & Dia, H. (2023). A Systematic Review of the Role of Land Use, Transport, and Energy-Environment Integration in Shaping Sustainable Cities. *Sustainability*, *15*(8), Article 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/su15086447
- Al-Salih, W. Q., & Esztergár-Kiss, D. (2022a). Comparison between Physical Parameters and Sensory Parameters Regarding Travel Behavior Based on Sensitivity Analysis. *Journal of Advanced Transportation*, 2022(1), 9061211. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/9061211
- Al-Salih, W. Q., & Esztergár-Kiss, D. (2022b). Comparison between Physical Parameters and Sensory Parameters Regarding Travel Behavior Based on Sensitivity Analysis. *Journal of Advanced Transportation*, 2022(1), 9061211. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/9061211
- Angelelli, E., Morandi, V., & Speranza, M. G. (2022). Optimization models for fair horizontal collaboration in demand-responsive transportation. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, *140*, 103725. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trc.2022.103725
- Arentze, T., & Timmermans, H. (2012). Travel demand modelling: Conceptual developments and perspectives. *Transportation Letters*, *4*(2), 79–92. https://doi.org/10.3328/TL.2012.04.02.79-92
- Ben-Akiva, M., Bowman, J., Ramming, S., & Walker, J. L. (1998). Behavioral Realism in Urban Transportation Planning Models. https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Behavioral-Realism-in-Urban-Transportation-Planning-Ben-Akiva-Bowman/3083630b61448d477fb21e759f9de99d01512dfb
- Ben-Akivai, M., Bowman, J. L., & Gopinath, D. (1996). Travel demand model system for the information era. *Transportation*, *23*(3), 241–266. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00165704
- Bills, T. S. (2024). Advancing the practice of regional transportation equity analysis: A San Francisco bay area case study. *Transportation*, *51*(3), 911–936. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116-022-10355-z
- Bills, T. S., Sall, E. A., & Walker, J. L. (2012). Activity-Based Travel Models and Transportation Equity Analysis: Research Directions and Exploration of Model Performance. *Transportation Research Record*, 2320(1), 18–27. https://doi.org/10.3141/2320-03



- Caltrans. (2020). Transportation Analysis Framework: Evaluating Transportation Impacts of State Highway System Projects. First Edition. https://dot.ca.gov/-/media/dotmedia/programs/transportation-planning/documents/sb-743/2020-09-10-1stedition-taf-fnl-a11y.pdf
- Castiglione, J., Bradley, M., & Gliebe, J. (with Strategic Highway Research Program Capacity Focus Area, Transportation Research Board, & National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine). (2014). *Activity-Based Travel Demand Models: A Primer*. Transportation Research Board. https://doi.org/10.17226/22357
- Cipriani, E., Crisalli, U., Gemma, A., & Mannini, L. (2020). Integration between activitybased demand models and multimodal assignment: Some empirical evidences. *Case Studies on Transport Policy*, 8(3), 1019–1029. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cstp.2020.04.004
- Croce, A. I., Musolino, G., Rindone, C., & Vitetta, A. (2019). Sustainable mobility and energy resources: A quantitative assessment of transport services with electrical vehicles. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *113*, 109236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.06.043
- Davidson, W., Donnelly, R., Vovsha, P., Freedman, J., Ruegg, S., Hicks, J., Castiglione, J., & Picado, R. (2007). Synthesis of first practices and operational research approaches in activity-based travel demand modeling. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy* and Practice, 41(5), 464–488. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2006.09.003
- D'Cruz, J. J. M., Alex, A. P., Manju, V. S., & Peter, L. (2020). Impact assessment of shortterm management measures on travel demand. *Archives of Transport*, 53(1), 37–52. https://doi.org/10.5604/01.3001.0014.1743
- Deakin, E., Dock, F., Garry, G., Handy, S., McNally, M., Sall, E., Skabardonis, A., Walker, J., & Rheinhardt, K. (2020). Calculating and Forecasting Induced Vehicle-Miles of Travel Resulting from Highway Projects: Findings and Recommendations from an Expert Panel. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/15d2t2gf
- Downs, A. (1962). The law of peak-hour expressway congestion. *Traffic Quarterly*, 16(3).
- Du, M., & Chen, A. (2022). Sensitivity analysis for transit equilibrium assignment and applications to uncertainty analysis. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, *157*, 175–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trb.2022.02.001
- El Zarwi, F., Vij, A., & Walker, J. L. (2017). A discrete choice framework for modeling and forecasting the adoption and diffusion of new transportation services. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 79, 207–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trc.2017.03.004
- Ferdous, N., Vana, L., Bowman, J. L., Pendyala, R. M., Giaimo, G., Bhat, C. R., Schmitt, D., Bradley, M., & Anderson, R. (2012). Comparison of Four-Step versus Tour-Based Models for Prediction of Travel Behavior before and after Transportation System Changes. *Transportation Research Record*, 2303(1), 46–60. https://doi.org/10.3141/2303-06



- Franklin, J., Paul, W., & John, B. (2002, November). Sensitivity analysis approach for an integrated land development & travel demand modeling system. Sensitivity Analysis Approach for an Integrated Land Development & Travel Demand Modeling System. Association of Collegiate Schools of Planning 44th Annual Conference.
- Gibb, J. (2023). Maximum Likelihood Estimation of Destination Choice Models with Constrained Attractions. *Transportation Research Record*, *2677*(5), 760–776. https://doi.org/10.1177/03611981221136136
- Givoni, M., Beyazit, E., & Shiftan, Y. (2016a). The use of state-of-the-art transport models by policymakers beauty in simplicity? *Planning Theory & Practice*, *17*(3), 385–404. https://doi.org/10.1080/14649357.2016.1188975
- Givoni, M., Beyazit, E., & Shiftan, Y. (2016b). The use of state-of-the-art transport models by policymakers – beauty in simplicity? *Planning Theory & Practice*, *17*(3), 385–404. https://doi.org/10.1080/14649357.2016.1188975
- Gliebe, J. P., & Koppelman, F. S. (2005). Modeling household activity–travel interactions as parallel constrained choices. *Transportation*, *32*(5), 449–471. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116-005-5328-0
- Griesenbeck, B., & Garry, G. (2007). Comparison of activity-based tour model to four-step model as a tool for metropolitan transportation planning. National Transportation Planning Applications Conference, Daytona Beach, Florida. https://trbappcon.org/2007conf/papers/session08/05-Comparison\_of\_ActivityBased\_Tour\_Model\_to\_FourStep\_Model.pdf
- Gu, Y., Chen, A., & Li, G. (2022). Sensitivity Analysis-Based Multi-Modal Transportation Network Vulnerability Assessment with Weibit Choice Models. 2022 13th International Conference on Reliability, Maintainability, and Safety (ICRMS), 40–44. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICRMS55680.2022.9944606
- Handy, S (2005). Smart growth and the transportation-land use connection: What does the research tell us?. *International regional science review*, *28*(2), 146-167. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/0160017604273626
- Handy, S. (2008). Regional transportation planning in the US: An examination of changes in technical aspects of the planning process in response to changing goals. *Transport Policy*, *15*(2), 113–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2007.10.006
- Hasnine, M. S., & Nurul Habib, K. (2021). Tour-based mode choice modelling as the core of an activity-based travel demand modelling framework: A review of state-of-the-art. *Transport Reviews*, *41*(1), 5–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/01441647.2020.1780648
- Hu, Y., van Wee, B., & Ettema, D. (2023). Intra-household decisions and the impact of the built environment on activity-travel behavior: A review of the literature. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 106, 103485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2022.103485



- Karner, A. (2022). People-focused and near-term public transit performance analysis. Journal of Public Transportation, 24, 100019. https://doi.org/10.5038/2375-0901.23.2.1
- Kisgyörgy, L., & Vasvári, G. (2017). Concept of an open-access travel demand modeling platform. *Case Studies on Transport Policy*, *5*(3), 453–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cstp.2017.06.004
- Lee, D. B., Klein, L. A., & Camus, G. (1999). Induced Traffic and Induced Demand. *Transportation Research Record*, *1659*(1), 68–75. https://doi.org/10.3141/1659-09
- Malayath, M., & Verma, A. (2013). Activity based travel demand models as a tool for evaluating sustainable transportation policies. *Research in Transportation Economics*, 38(1), 45–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.retrec.2012.05.010
- Marsden, G., Frick, K. T., May, A. D., & Deakin, E. A. (2009). Good Practice in the Exploitation of Innovative Strategies in Sustainable Urban Transport: City Interview Synthesis. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/4cd3d9rs
- Marshall, N. L. (2018). Forecasting the impossible: The status quo of estimating traffic flows with static traffic assignment and the future of dynamic traffic assignment. *Research in Transportation Business & Management*, 29, 85–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rtbm.2018.06.002
- McCollum, D. L., Wilson, C., Pettifor, H., Ramea, K., Krey, V., Riahi, K., Bertram, C., Lin, Z., Edelenbosch, O. Y., & Fujisawa, S. (2017). Improving the behavioral realism of global integrated assessment models: An application to consumers' vehicle choices. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 55, 322–342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2016.04.003
- McNally, M. G. (2007). The Four-Step Model. In D. A. Hensher & K. J. Button (Eds.), Handbook of Transport Modelling (Vol. 1, pp. 35–53). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/9780857245670-003
- Metz, D. (2021). Economic benefits of road widening: Discrepancy between outturn and forecast. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, *147*, 312–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2021.03.023
- Michael, M. (2016). *Transportation Planning Handbook, 4th Edition*. https://ecommerce.ite.org/IMIS/ItemDetail?iProductCode=LP-695
- Milam, R. T., Birnbaum, M., Ganson, C., Handy, S., & Walters, J. (2017). Closing the induced vehicle travel gap between research and practice. *Transportation research record*, *2653*(1), 10-16. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.3141/2653-02
- Miller, E. J. (2020). Chapter 3 Travel demand models, the next generation: Boldly going where no-one has gone before. In K. G. Goulias & A. W. Davis (Eds.), *Mapping the Travel Behavior Genome* (pp. 29–46). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-817340-4.00003-6



- Moeckel, R., Kuehnel, N., Llorca, C., Moreno, A. T., & Rayaprolu, H. (2020). Agent-Based Simulation to Improve Policy Sensitivity of Trip-Based Models. *Journal of Advanced Transportation*, 2020(1), 1902162. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/1902162
- Næss, P., Nicolaisen, M. S., & Strand, A. (2012). Traffic forecasts ignoring induced demand: a shaky fundament for cost-benefit analyses. *European Journal of Transport and Infrastructure Research*, *12*(3), 291-309. http://www.ejtir.tbm.tudelft.nl/issues/2012\_03/abstracts/2012\_03\_02.asp
- Padhye, P., Nagakumar, M. S., Sunil, S., & Reddy, A. H. M. (2020). Activity-Based Travel Demand Models to Evaluate Transport Policies. In T. V. Mathew, G. J. Joshi, N. R. Velaga, & S. Arkatkar (Eds.), *Transportation Research* (pp. 253–262). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9042-6\_20
- Pulugurtha, S. S., Duvvuri, S. V., Jain, R. N., & Venigalla, M. (2019). How accurate is the regional travel demand model in mimicking real-world travel times? Urban, Planning and Transport Research, 7(1), 53–73. https://doi.org/10.1080/21650020.2019.1661790
- Ramadan, O. E., Sisiopiku, V. P., Ramadan, O. E., & Sisiopiku, V. P. (2019). A Critical Review on Population Synthesis for Activity- and Agent-Based Transportation Models. In *Transportation Systems Analysis and Assessment*. IntechOpen. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.86307
- Rasouli, S., & Timmermans, H. (2012). Uncertainty in travel demand forecasting models: Literature review and research agenda. *Transportation Letters*, *4*(1), 55–73. https://doi.org/10.3328/TL.2012.04.01.55-73
- Rodier, C. (2009). Review of International Modeling Literature: Transit, Land Use, and Auto Pricing Strategies to Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled and Greenhouse Gas Emissions. *Transportation Research Record*, *2132*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3141/2132-01
- Shaheen, S., & Cohen, A. (2020). Chapter 3 Mobility on demand (MOD) and mobility as a service (MaaS): Early understanding of shared mobility impacts and public transit partnerships. In C. Antoniou, D. Efthymiou, & E. Chaniotakis (Eds.), *Demand for Emerging Transportation Systems* (pp. 37–59). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-815018-4.00003-6
- Shan, R., Zhong, M., & Lu, C. (2013). Comparison Between Traditional Four-Step & Activity-Based Travel Demand Modeling—A Case Study of Tampa, Florida. 627–633. https://doi.org/10.1061/9780784413036.085
- Shiftan, Y., & Ben-Akiva, M. (2011). A practical policy-sensitive, activity-based, traveldemand model. *The Annals of Regional Science*, *47*(3), 517–541. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00168-010-0393-5
- Tajaddini, A., Rose, G., Kockelman, K., & Vu, H. L. (2020). *Recent Progress in Activity-Based Travel Demand Modeling: Rising Data and Applicability*. https://www.intechopen.com/chapters/73240



- Transportation Research Board. (2007). *Metropolitan Travel Forecasting: Current Practice and Future Direction -- Special Report 288*. National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/11981
- Volker, J. M. B., Lee, A. E., & Handy, S. (2020). Induced Vehicle Travel in the Environmental Review Process. *Transportation Research Record*, *2674*(7), 468–479. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361198120923365
- Vovsha, P., & Bradley, M. (2006). Advanced Activity-Based Models in Context of Planning Decisions. *Transportation Research Record*, *1981*(1), 34–41. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361198106198100106
- Vovsha, P., Freedman, J., Livshits, V., & Sun, W. (2011). Design Features of Activity-Based Models in Practice: Coordinated Travel–Regional Activity Modeling Platform. *Transportation Research Record*, *2254*(1), 19–27. https://doi.org/10.3141/2254-03
- Vovsha, P., Petersen, E., & Donnelly, R. (2003). Explicit Modeling of Joint Travel by Household Members: Statistical Evidence and Applied Approach. *Transportation Research Record*, 1831(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3141/1831-01
- Waddell, P. (2014). Integrated Land Use and Transportation Planning and Modelling: Addressing Challenges in Research and Practice. In *Transport Models in Urban Planning Practices*. Routledge.
- Waldeck, L., Holloway, J., & van Heerden, Q. (2020). Integrated land use and transportation modelling and planning: A South African journey. *Journal of Transport and Land Use*, *13*(1), 227–254.
- Walker, J. L., Chatman, D., Daziano, R., Erhardt, G., Gao, S., Mahmassani, H., Ory, D., Sall,
  E., Bhat, C., Chim, N., Daniels, C., Gardner, B., Kressner, J., Miller, E., Pereira, F.,
  Picado, R., Hess, S., Axhausen, K., Bareinboim, E., ... Zhao, J. (2019). Advancing the Science of Travel Demand Forecasting. https://doi.org/10.7922/G2TH8K00
- Xu, Z., Lv, Z., Li, J., Sun, H., & Sheng, Z. (2023). A Novel Perspective on Travel Demand Prediction Considering Natural Environmental and Socioeconomic Factors. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9757849
- Yang, C., Chen, A., Xu, X., & Wong, S. C. (2013). Sensitivity-based uncertainty analysis of a combined travel demand model. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 57, 225–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trb.2013.07.006
- Zamir, K. R., Nasri, A., Baghaei, B., Mahapatra, S., & Zhang, L. (2014). Effects of Transit-Oriented Development on Trip Generation, Distribution, and Mode Share in Washington, D.C., and Baltimore, Maryland. *Transportation Research Record*, 2413(1), 45–53. https://doi.org/10.3141/2413-05
- Zhang, J., Kuwano, M., Lee, B., & Fujiwara, A. (2009). Modeling household discrete choice behavior incorporating heterogeneous group decision-making mechanisms. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 43(2), 230–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trb.2008.05.002



- Zhang, L., Southworth, F., Xiong, C., & Sonnenberg, A. (2012). Methodological Options and Data Sources for the Development of Long-Distance Passenger Travel Demand Models: A Comprehensive Review. *Transport Reviews*, 32(4), 399–433. https://doi.org/10.1080/01441647.2012.688174
- Zhang, Y., & Zhang, L. (2019). Research on Demand Forecasting Model of Human Resources Labor Demand in Large-scale SOE Group Under Cost Constraint Circumstances. 75–77. https://doi.org/10.2991/smont-19.2019.18
- Zhong, M., Shan, R., Du, D., & Lu, C. (2015). A comparative analysis of traditional four-step and activity-based travel demand modeling: A case study of Tampa, Florida. *Transportation Planning and Technology*, 38(5), 517–533. https://doi.org/10.1080/03081060.2015.1039232